## Waste Management and Reduction Plan PROJECT PROPOSAL

Client: Aquarium of the Pacific

Advisor: Dr. Peter Kareiva

Team Members: Brooke Jacobs Skyler Seamons Haley Gunther Adrianna Schwaiger Abigail Douglas Tyler Norris Kevin Truong Cora Fahringer Jasleen Kahlon

University of California, Los Angeles

# **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction	3
2. Background	3
2.1 – Relevant Legislation, Enforcement & Compliance	3
2.2 – Strategies and Methods for Moving Towards Zero Waste Events	5
2.3 – Scope 3 Emissions	6
3. Research Questions	7
4. Methods	8
5. Deliverables	8
6. Timeline	9
7. Management Plan	9
8. Works Cited	11

### 1. Introduction

Global waste generation is expected to increase from 2.01 billions tons per year to 3.40 billion tons per year by 2050 (The World Bank). Despite accounting for only 4% of the global population, the United States disproportionately produces ~34% of global waste (The World Bank). This waste primarily goes to landfill, the space for which is finite. By 2035 many landfills in the US will be completely full and there is a concern that there may be no safe place for the nation's excess waste (Fast haul).

In addition to representing a finite resource, landfills also represent environmental and human health hazards. Research shows that close proximity to landfills is hazardous to human health. For example, plastic can leach phthalates and BPA into soil and groundwater, which are known endocrine disruptors that cause reproductive and developmental harm (Knoblauch). Landfills also contribute to global warming because these are primarily composed of organic waste. The decomposition of this organic waste produces methane, which has 25X the warming potential as CO2. Globally, landfills accounted for 15% of all methane emissions in 2019 (EPA).

Waste thus is a local problem because of the scarcity of landfills and a global problem because of methane emissions from landfills. Every nation, city, household and institution has a role to play in waste reduction. This project aims to help the Aquarium of the Pacific in it's waste reduction efforts as well as it's overall environmental impact from scope 3 emissions. In particular, our team is focused on finding ways to create zero waste events. This will require reducing the overall volume of waste, diverting waste from landfills, donating usable food, and incorporating best industry practices. Additionally, we will assess scope 3 emissions associated with operations and develop a tool for analysis of scope 3 emissions. Although Aquaria and Zoos typically support conservation and environmental stewardship, these institutions generate significant waste and greenhouse gases. Our aspiration is that this project will make AoP a national leader in sustainability, and serve as an example for other aquaria and zoos, assisting them in their own environmental efforts.

### 2. Background

#### 2.1 – Relevant Legislation, Enforcement & Compliance

Food donations will be an essential part of event waste reduction. This section outlines current organic waste reduction laws that may apply to the Aquarium of the Pacific.

#### Assembly Bill 1826: Commercial Organic Waste Recycling Law

This was the first and less stringent of the organic waste reduction bills that California introduced. It aims to reduce the total waste sent to landfills in California through diverting organic waste by composting. It requires all California businesses and multi-family complexes to separate organic waste as well as subscribe to an organics collection service, recycle organic waste onsite, self-haul organic waste for recycling, or sell or donate organic waste. It's goals are to achieve 50% waste diversion by 2020 and 75% organics diversion by 2025.

- Requirements:
  - Businesses must recycle their organic waste—food scraps, green waste, yard trimmings, non-hazardous, non-treated wood waste, food-soiled paper, and cardboard.

- Local California jurisdictions to implement an organic waste recycling program if there is not one already in place.
- Enforcement:
  - Local jurisdictions to implement a recycling program to divert organic waste from businesses.
- Applicability:
  - Businesses and multifamily complexes that generate 2 or more cubic tons of solid waste, recycling, and organic waste total per week.
- Effective:
  - April 2016

## Senate Bill 1383: Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Law

This was the second and more aggressive of the organic waste reduction bills that California introduced. This bill specifically aims to reduce the emissions of short-lived climate pollutants (SLCP) from organic waste in landfills. It requires all California residences and businesses to separate organic waste from solid waste and recyclables and participate in an organic collection program. It's goals are to reduce organic waste disposal 50% by 2020 and 75% by 2025 and rescue at least 20% of currently disposed surplus food by 2025.

- Requirements:
  - 1. Need to separate and recover the maximum amount of edible food that would otherwise be disposed (landfill or compost)
    - a. Carried out by staff or by a food recovery organization or service
  - 2. Need a contract with each food recovery organization that picks up edible food
  - 3. Must track and maintain records of food recovered each month
    - a. Type, frequency and pounds of food
- Enforcement:
  - CalRecycle is the state agency responsible for creating the regulatory standards.
  - Local jurisdictions may impose penalties for noncompliance.
- Applicability:
  - All businesses, schools, multi-family complexes, and single-family home residents.
- Effective:
  - January 1, 2022
    - Tier One
      - CalRecycle's regulations for organics reduction and food recovery, as well as state penalties for noncompliance.
  - January 1, 2024
    - Tier Two must comply with edible food recovery requirements
      - Local education agencies (with an onsite food facility)
      - Large venues & events

## What are the implications of the enforcement policies?

Neither SB 1383 or AB 1862 has specific enforcement requirements or plans as enforcement is delegated to local jurisdictions and CalRecycle will evaluate the jurisdiction's actions. The overall lack of enforcement forces the laws to depend on the good will of businesses and people. This lack of accountability may have negative implications for the success of the new waste reduction legislation. The essentially nonexistent enforcement applies to Long Beach as well. How can the cost of compliance be managed?

- Bundling
  - Jurisdictions that mandate organic waste collection may bundle collection rates of solid waste, recycling, and organic waste collection. This bundling would be based on the solid waste service level, thus reducing costs.
  - Businesses can reduce waste costs by reducing solid waste and increasing diversion of recyclables and yard waste. (CalRecycle, 2020)
- Partnering with local organizations to divert organic waste
  - Louis-Zenak (2020) suggested that for restaurants, a collaborative edible food recovery program can reduce the cost of complying with AB 1826, as well as additional costs to safely recover edible food from the waste stream.
- Example program
  - Bailey et al.'s (2021) program, Rubbish, aims to collect food waste from small food retailers to produce renewable energy and compost. These byproducts will lower the program's operational costs, and these savings can be passed on to participating small businesses.

### 2.2 – Strategies and Methods for Moving Towards Zero Waste Events

Waste reduction requires meticulous planning, but even small changes can have significant impacts. This section provides background for zero waste events by looking at other institutions—outlining key steps for waste reduction, suggestions for sustainable swaps, and key insights of waste audit methodology.

### *Key steps for waste reduction*

- Major components of waste reduction
  - Source reduction
  - Recycling
  - Composting
  - Liquid diversion
  - Introduce resource recovery stations
    - 1. Reusables
    - 2. Liquids
    - 3. Recyclables
    - 4. Compostables/Organics
    - 5. Landfill
  - Major phases and steps towards Zero Waste Events
    - Pre-event
      - Minimize waste upstream
      - Plan for waste downstream
      - Determine the size of your event beforehand, predict the amount of waste produced based on the size, and plan accordingly
      - Ensure all vendors have reusable, certified compostable, or recyclable (recyclable material means #1-5) service ware. Determine whether you'd like to provide the service ware or if the vendors will be required to provide their own.
      - Accurately predict the attendee count based on past event data to prevent waste from printed documents or food.
    - During event

- Set up
- Monitor sorting stations
- Tear down
- > Post-event
  - Sorting, clean up and haul resources to end sites
  - Gain feedback and evaluate
  - Publicize event successes
  - Weighing after the event to determine if diversion goals were reached
  - Issue a "waste report" for each event, so that over time these reports can be used to improve the outcome

## Sustainable Swaps

- Identify single-use materials that need to be replaced with sustainable alternatives
  - Shopping bags, beverage bottles, take-away food packaging, beverage cups, tableware, etc
- Serving ware alternatives to disposables can be reusable or compostable
  - Compostable: Made of biodegradable material (such as sugar cane bagasse, corn, and wheat straw)
    - Most cannot be composted in the Aquarium's composter
    - <u>Onyx Company</u> has a wide range of certified compostable serviceware
  - Reusable: could purchase reusable silverware for more formal events where food is served like a restaurant
    - Higher up-front cost, but pays itself off after a few events
    - Many get thrown away or lost at events

## Waste Auditing

Waste audits will provide insight to the types of waste produced, the amount of waste produced, and any improperly disposed of waste. We will perform waste stream analysis to calculate waste diversion rates and target large sources of waste to improve waste reduction and landfill diversion at the Aquarium.

- Key insights for waste audit methodology:
  - A standardized methodology with a reporting structure allows for accurate comparison in future waste audits
  - Auditing methodology must maintain the integrity of the sample size and ensure waste streams are not mixed

## 2.3 – Scope 3 Emissions

## Introduction

Scope 3 emissions are typically the most significant source of emissions and are notoriously difficult to reduce. This section outlines scope 3 emissions and our plans to address them.

- "The result of activities that are not controlled by the reporting organization, but that the organization indirectly impacts in its value chain" (EPA, 2022).
- Scope 3 emissions include the Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions of all organizations along the reporting organization's value chain.
- Include activities that are not included within the definition of Scope 1 or Scope 2 for the reporting organization.

The EPA splits Scope 3 emissions into 15 distinct categories, outlined in the table below. The EPA has released guidance regarding the calculation of each of these categories, which will be utilized as a reference during the calculation of Scope 3 emissions from the Aquarium of the Pacific.

Performing a facility-wide emissions audit for an organization of this scale can take many years. As such, our team will focus primarily on categories 6 and 7 for the full facility. Our team will, however, perform an all-encompassing Scope 3 emissions audit for events held at the aquarium. This audit will be followed by the development of software which will allow event planners to quickly calculate Scope 3 emissions and account for these emissions in their decision-making.

Scope 3 Category	Category Description	Relevant to the Aquarium of the Pacific?
1	Purchased goods and services	Y
2	Emissions from capital goods	Y
3	Emissions from fuel and energy	Y
4	Upstream transportation and distribution	Y
5	Waste generated in operations	Υ
6	Business commuting	Y
7	Employee commuting	Y
8	Upstream leased assets	N/A
9	Downstream transportation and distribution	N/A
10	Processing of sold products	Y
11	Use of sold products	Ν
12	End of life treatment of sold products	Y, specifically food waste
13	Downstream leased assets	Y (offsite warehouse)
14	Franchises	Ν
15	Investments	N/A

### 3. Research Questions

Special Events

- 1. What types of waste are produced by events? Categorize and identify the streams of waste.
- 2. What are ways to improve Aquarium waste management, how can we achieve zero

landfillable waste, and how can waste be reduced by implementing sustainable swaps while improving the bottom line?

3. What is the best way to streamline waste reduction strategies for future events, including accounting for leftover food donations?

#### Scope 3 Emissions

- 1. How can the aquarium accurately quantify their commuting (employee, business, and potentially visitor) and event emissions?
- 2. How can the aquarium easily collect data for the above categories of Scope 3 emissions, in order to continue auditing these sources and managing for reduced emissions?
- 3. How can the aquarium effectively reduce emissions from these categories?

### 4. Methods

### Special Events

We will conduct personal interviews to identify event planning industry best practices. The individuals we will interview include UCLA personnel, Aquarium of the Pacific event planning personnel, other aquaria, government officials, individuals in the food industry, and sustainable event planning professionals.

We will also conduct waste audits of special events. These waste audits serve to identify streams of waste and leftover food, as well as to analyze human behavior surrounding waste disposal. We will perform waste stream analysis by sampling and measuring directly from bins, as well as recording event material inputs (total food, plates, napkins, etc.) and event outputs to accurately calculate food consumed and waste produced. We will compare waste audits of old waste systems to new waste systems to calculate efficacy and cost savings of new bins on site. In addition, event audits will include observation of event guest and employee behavior in waste disposal.

#### Scope 3 Emissions

EPA guidance states that Scope 3 emissions can be quantified using either primary data specific to an organization, or by using secondary data such as industry averages and proxies. The EPA regularly updates a large quantity of default emissions factors to be used in organizational greenhouse gas calculations and reporting. Organizations which perform a Scope 3 emissions audit will often release their calculation methodology to the public, meaning these can be used as a secondary reference in order to fill any gaps in knowledge from the EPA's guidance. Any calculation method used that goes beyond the EPA's guidance should only come from credible environmental agencies, and must be communicated effectively when utilized. A margin of error should be employed following a Scope 3 emissions audit in order to prevent greenwashing. Such margins of error generally range between 10-30 percent, and are up to the discretion of the reporting organization. This margin must be effectively communicated to the public as a means of building trust.

### 5. Deliverables

- 1. Audit the waste produced by special events of varying sizes to identify categories of waste and areas for improvement.
- 2. Provide the Aquarium with solutions to landfill waste production.
- 3. Develop best practices for leftover food donations in accordance with new legislation and identify donation locations

- 4. Create a guide for sustainable event planning for the Aquarium to use in the future
- 5. Calculate the Aquarium's Scope 3 emissions and develop a tool for future calculations.
- 6. Produce an executive report and presentation with social, environmental, and cost-based justifications for each potential change.
- 7. Compile our research into a paper to submit for publication.

## 6. Timeline

Task	Who's doing it?	Deadline
Brochure	Adrianna	1/11
Team management worksheet	Haley & Cora	1/18/22
Create team email	Communications Lead	1/21
Proposal presentation	Abby	1/24
Incorporate feedback edits on literature review	Brooke + Everyone?	1/30/22
Proposal, including a literature review	Brooke	1/31
Website	Haley + Tyler	2/1
Upload team introduction and bios to the IoES website	Haley +Abby (if you need me to help)	2/1/22
Social media post- Introduction	Adrianna + Cora	2/5/22
Peer evaluations for winter quarter	Everyone	3/7
Presentation on data collection methods and preliminary findings	Abby	3/10/22
Social media update- methods and data collection	Jasleen	3/15/22
Results write up	Brooke	5/15/22
Social media post- results	Skyler	5/17/22
Draft report (and external peer review)	everyone	5/19
Presentation- Intro, methods, results, conclusions	Adrianna + Cora	5/20/22
Perform Scope 3 Emissions Audit	Kevin + Tyler	2/20/22
Create software for Scope 3 emission calculations	Kevin + Tyler	5/25
Create infographics/templates	Skyler & Adrianna	5/27/22
Completed final report	everyone	5/29/22
Completed executive report	everyone	5/31/22
Pitch to Executive team	everyone	6/3/22
Presentation of the final report	everyone	6/6
Peer evaluations for spring quarter	Everyone	6/5
Final report, including an executive summary 3	everyone	Finals Week
TikToks/social media	Cora Skyler & Jasleen	March-May
Арр		6/5

## 7. Management Plan

### Meeting Format

Our team will hold weekly 2-hr team meetings as well as 2-hr meetings with our advisor. Meetings will be led by the member(s) responsible for a particular task(s) being addressed, and notes will be taken by anyone that's designated. The meetings will also be recorded via Zoom so that if any team member cannot attend, they can still access the information covered.

Team Roles

Our team has assigned the following roles to each member. These roles may be adjusted depending on how each member and the team as a whole is doing.

Haley and Adrianna are our Project Managers. Their responsibilities include generating an action list and keeping the team focused during meetings, planning and scheduling the project, guiding the direction of each project component, and keeping our information organized. Brooke is our Editor. While anyone may be involved in the writing, she is primarily responsible for it along with making final adjustments to written documents, presentations, and creating a cohesive voice. Cora, Adrianna and Abby are our Graphic Designers. They are responsible for designing brochures, infographics, powerpoint presentations, and social media posts. Cora and Skyler are our Web Content Managers, who are in charge of graphics and content for our website. Abby, Tyler, and Brooke are our Team Communications Managers. They are responsible for our team communications (group emails, text messages, and reminders about tasks) and external communications (such as with our client). Jasleen and Cora are our Events/Field Data Managers. They will organize how we approach field research and events. Tyler and Kevin are our Data Analysts. They are responsible for researching relevant literature and performing quantitative analyses of our data. Haley is our Zoom manager. Abby is our Travel Coordinator, who will oversee our transportation and reimbursement.

### Documenting, cataloging, and archiving information

All of our files will be stored on a shared Google Drive and organized into respective folders. Important files that need to be shared with our faculty advisor and client will be uploaded to our team's Basecamp. Events are posted on our team's calendar, and deadlines are listed on a spreadsheet and Basecamp. Communications within the team are being done through a text group chat, with smaller group chats for specific tasks. Communication with our faculty advisor and clients will be done over email and Basecamp.

#### Expectations for Team Conduct and Work

Our team prioritizes communication, good work ethic, dedication, and camaraderie towards all members of the group. Our team also expects that each person will complete professional quality work in a timely manner. If these criteria are not being met, the team will hold that person accountable through 1-on-1 conversations to see how the rest of the team can best support the individual.

### 8. Works Cited

- Athens Services (2021, December 3). SB 1383: California's short-lived climate pollutant reduction strategy. https://athensservices.com/sb-1383/.
- Bailey, A., Luna, A., & Mermel, K. (2021). There's no such thing as waste--that's just rubbish [Doctoral dissertation, University of California, Santa Barbara].

BHP. Scope 3 Emissions Calculation Methodology. BHP, 2019,

https://www.bhp.com/-/media/documents/investors/annual-reports/2019/bhpscope3em issionscalculationmethodology2019.pdf?la=en.

California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery. *California's short-lived climate pollutant reduction strategy*. https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/organics/slcp.

California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery. Mandatory Commercial

Organics Recycling. https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/recycle/commercial/organics/

California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery. Mandatory commercial organics recycling: Frequently asked questions.

https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/recycle/commercial/organics/faq#Enforcement.

- California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (2020). SB 1383 local service rates analysis.
- California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (2019). SB 1383 initial statement of reasons—Appendix A cost update.

```
California Legislative Information. Bill Text - SB-1383 Short-lived climate pollutants:
methane emissions: dairy and livestock: organic waste: landfills.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160SB138
3
```

CalRecycle. Short-lived Climate Pollutants (SLCP): Organic Waste Reductions Final

Regulation Text.

file:///Users/brookejacobs/Downloads/2020Dec4\_ADAFINALFINALOALAPPROV ED.pdf

Center for EcoTechnology. *Connecticut Legal/Regulatory Requirements*. https://wastedfood.cetonline.org/states/connecticut/

Center for EcoTechnology. *Rhode Island Legal/Regulatory Requirements*. https://wastedfood.cetonline.org/states/rhode-island/

City of Irvine. Senate Bill 1383 & Organics Recycling.

https://www.cityofirvine.org/environmental-programs/senate-bill-1383-organics-recyc ling

Environmental Services Bureau. *Commercial food scraps collection*. City of Long Beach Department of Public Works.

https://www.longbeach.gov/lbrecycles/food-yard-waste/commercial-foodscraps/infor mation-for-pilot-participants/.

Environmental Services Bureau (2021, June 23). Long Beach launches Commercial Food Scraps Collection Pilot Program [Press release]. City of Long Beach Department of Public Works.

https://www.longbeach.gov/press-releases/long-beach-launches-commercial-food-scra ps-collection-pilot-program/.

EPA. "Basic Information About Landfill Gas." *Landfill Methane Outreach Program (LMOP)*, Environmental Protection Agency,

https://www.epa.gov/lmop/basic-information-about-landfill-gas

EPA. "GHG Emissions Factors Hub." *EPA Center for Corporate Climate Leadership*, Environmental Protection Agency, 2021,

https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/ghg-emission-factors-hub.

- EPA. "GHGRP Waste." *Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program (GHGRP)*, Environmental Protection Agency, 2021, https://www.epa.gov/ghgreporting/ghgrp-waste.
- EPA. "Greenhouse Gases at EPA." *Greening EPA*, Environmental Protection Agency, 2021, https://www.epa.gov/greeningepa/greenhouse-gases-epa.
- EPA. "Municipal Solid Waste Landfills." Environmental Protection Agency, https://www.epa.gov/landfills/municipal-solid-waste-landfills
- EPA. "Scope 1 and Scope 2 Inventory Guidance." EPA Center for Corporate Climate Leadership, Environmental Protection Agency, 2021, https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/scope-1-and-scope-2-inventory-guidance.
- EPA. "Scope 3 Inventory Guidance." EPA Center for Corporate Climate Leadership, Environmental Protection Agency, 2021, https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/scope-3-inventory-guidance.
- EPA. "USEEIO Technical Content." US Environmentally-Extended Input-Output, Environmental Protection Agency, 2021,

https://www.epa.gov/land-research/us-environmentally-extended-input-output-useeio-technical-content.

"Filling up fast - the state of U.S. landfills." *Fast Haul: The Politics of Waste Management at Home and Abroad*, 2019,

https://www.fasthaul.com/ecoblog/2019/04/22/state-of-us-landfills/

GHG Protocol. "Category 5: Waste Generated in Operations." *Greenhouse Gas Protocol*, 2021,

https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards\_supporting/Ch5\_GHGP\_Tech.pdf.

GHG Protocol. "Category 7: Employee Commuting Methodology." *Greenhouse Gas Protocol*, 2021,

https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards\_supporting/Chapter7.pdf.

- GHG Protocol. "Scope 3 Calculation Guidance", *Greenhouse Gas Protocol*, 2013, https://ghgprotocol.org/scope-3-technical-calculation-guidance.
- Greenhouse Gas Protocol. *Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Standard*. https://ghgprotocol.org/standards/scope-3-standard.
- Hazimihalis, Katina. "A 5-Step Guide to Conducting a Waste Audit." *Dumpsters.com*, 23 May 2018, https://www.dumpsters.com/blog/how-to-conduct-a-waste-audit.
- "How to Prevent a Waste Audit." *YouTube*, uploaded by Busch Systems on 30 May 2019, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5sOj1M92UC4.
- Knoblauch, J. A. (2021, September 29). *The Environmental Toll of Plastics*. Environmental Health News (EHN). Retrieved February 13, 2022, from https://www.ehn.org/plastic-environmental-impact-2501923191.html
- Limauge, Valérie. "How-to Reduce Scope 3 Emissions." Schneider Electric, 10 August 2020, https://perspectives.se.com/blog/how-to-reduce-scope-3-emissions.

Los Angeles County Public Works. Waste-Free Event Guide.

https://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/Roadmap/PDF/WasteFree\_Event\_Guide.pdf

Louis-Zenak, M.C. (2020). Awareness, impact, and implementation of California's waste laws on food service establishments within the Folsom Historic District [Doctoral dissertation, California State University, Sacramento].

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection. *Commercial Food Material Disposal Ban.* https://www.mass.gov/guides/commercial-food-material-disposal-ban McKinley, Shawna. "8 Steps to Improve Your Event With a Waste Audit." *EventMB*,

EventMB, 17 Sept. 2015, https://www.eventmanagerblog.com/waste-audit-how-to. Monterey Bay Aquarium. *Plastic Pollution* | *What we do*.

https://www.montereybayaquarium.org/act-for-the-ocean/plastic-pollution/what-we-d o. Murphy, Sara E. "How General Mills, McDonalds and Kering are setting credible, courageous sustainability goals" greenbiz.com, 31 May 2018, https://www.greenbiz.com/article/how-general-mills-mcdonalds-and-kering-are-settin g-credible-courageous-sustainability-goals.

Njoku, P. O., Edokpayi, J. N., & Odiyo, J. O. (2019). Health and Environmental Risks of Residents Living Close to a Landfill: A Case Study of Thohoyandou Landfill, Limpopo Province, South Africa. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *16*(12), 2125. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16122125

Northeast Waste Forum. *Waste Wise Events Waste Audits Procedures Manual*. http://www.newaste.org.au/docs/WWE/WWE%20Waste%20Audit%20Procedure%20 Manual.pdf.

"Population Clock." Census.gov, 2021, www.census.gov/popclock/. Accessed 28 Nov. 2021.

Recycling & Waste Commision of Santa Clara County. (2021, July). SB 1383 Food Recovery for Businesses.

https://reducewaste.sccgov.org/sites/g/files/exjcpb691/files/documents/SCC%20SB% 201383%20Food%20Recovery%20for%20Businesses%20Slide%20Deck%20Public %20Version.pdf

Randall Gil, Sarena & Warrington, Wayne (2017) Sustainability initiatives in zoos and aquariums: looking in to reach out, Leisure/Loisir, 41:3, 443-465, DOI: 10.1080/14927713.2017.1366277

Rethink Waste. AB 1826: Mandatory Organics Recycling.

https://rethinkwaste.org/businesses/laws-ordinances/ab-1826-mandatory-organics-rec ycling/

Rethink Waste. SB 1838: State Organics Law.

https://rethinkwaste.org/businesses/laws-ordinances/sb-1383-state-organics-law/

Rethink Waste South Bayside Waste Management Authority. *Rethink Your Event and Make it Earth Friendly*.

https://www.fostercity.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/public\_works/page/5391/ large-event-planning-guide.pdf

State of California. *California's Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Strategy*, https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/organics/slcp

Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme. *Waste Audit Methodology: A Common Approach.* 

https://www.theprif.org/sites/default/files/documents/prif\_waste\_audit\_methodology\_ final\_report\_03-06-20.pdf

Seven Generations Ahead. Zero Waste Event Planning Guide.

https://swancc.org/resources/educational-resources/toolkits/392-zero-waste-event-gui de/file

The Carbon Trust. Briefing: What Are Scope 3 Emissions? 23 June 2020,

https://www.carbontrust.com/resources/briefing-what-are-scope-3-emissions#:~:text= Scope%201%20covers%20direct%20emissions,in%20a%20company%27s%20value %20chain.

Townsend, S. (2009) Incorporating sustainable practices for zoos and aquariums: a Triple Bottom Line approach, International Zoo Yearbook, 43:1, 53-63. DOI:

10.1111/j.1748-1090.2008.00065.x

United States Environmental Protection Agency. *Scope 3 Inventory Guidance*. https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/scope-3-inventory-guidance.

University of Illinois Chicago. Zero Waste Event Planning Guide.

https://sustainability.uic.edu/green-campus/recycling/zero-waste-events/zero-waste

Vermont Official State Website. Vermont Universal Recycling Law (Act 148).

https://dec.vermont.gov/sites/dec/files/wmp/SolidWaste/Documents/Universal-Recycl ing/Food-Scrap-Ban-Guidance.pdf

"What a Waste 2.0." Trends in Solid Waste Management, The World Bank,

https://datatopics.worldbank.org/what-a-waste/trends\_in\_solid\_waste\_management.ht ml.